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SUMMARY

Victoria Mill was erected in 1854 as a cotton-sjgnmill in an industrial sector of
Burnley that became known famously as the ‘Weavérigngle’ (centred on NGR
SD 83362 32609). In 1991, on account of its spdusibric and architectural interest,
Victoria Mill was designated a Grade Il Listed Rlilg. However, the buildings have
been vacant for several years and, until most tBgemere in a very poor condition.
Following the collapse of a private sector appi@atto promote a mixed-use
commercial development on the site in 2008, Vietdviill was acquired by Burnley
Borough Council to secure the buildings for futteurbishment. In the first instance,
a programme of urgent works was implemented talsalthe buildings, secure them
from vandalism, and make the structures watertightApril 2012, following the
completion of the urgent repairs work, a plannimgpleation was submitted to
develop the Victoria Mill complex as a new UnivéysiTechnical College (UTC).
This major scheme is being led by Training 200Ghvprivate sector partners in the
aerospace industry, and aims to create a facityging on training in engineering
and construction. The project is being deliveredhaynfield Investment Properties in
partnership with Burnley Council.

Whilst the proposed conversion of the mill compked secure the long-term future
of the site, the scheme necessitates a major isfument of the buildings. In order to
secure archaeological interest, Burnley Councilisetl that an appropriate level of
archaeological investigation should accompany tlopgsed development. Following
consultation with the Lancashire County Archaeol&sgyvice, it was recommended
that a building investigation commensurate withEaglish Heritage Level 1lI/11I-type
survey of the entire Victoria Mill complex was dad out in advance of development
work. The development proposals also allow for deenolition of a disused single-
storey structure on the opposite bank of the LesedsLiverpool Canal, known as the
Wiseman Street Works. It was recommended that #iie was subject to
archaeological recording to an English Heritagedléstandard.

The survey revealed detailed evidence for the lapduhe original mill complex,
including the north-western wall of the four-storgginning block, and part of its
return to an extant three-storey attached beammengiuse. The engine house was
extended subsequently on its western side. Thiskety to have post-dated the
erection of a building to the north, which appetrshave been constructed as a
primary processing area, but was remodelled sulesglyuto form a boiler house for
two Lancashire boilers, with an associated econenaisd large chimney.

Following a devastating fire in the 1880s, the gpig block was rebuilt as a large
double-depth block fronting Trafalgar Street. Thesains many original elements,
including a hoist on the top floor. A two-storeyaveng shed/preparation block was
added shortly afterwards, along with a six-storeyr 4ower, which retains an early,
and almost complete example of an automated sprirgystem. The two-storey
weaving shed comprised distinct structural elemenigs had continuous fireproof
vaulting between the two floors. Whilst this hae\pously been assumed to be of
rendered brick construction, as the structure plased to the north, detailed
examination revealed it to be of complex concretgstruction, representing an early
and rare example of such a feature.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1

111

1.1.2

1.1.3

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

Victoria Mill was erected in 1854 as a cotton-spmgnmill in an industrial
sector of Burnley that became known famously asWheavers’ Triangle'. By
the end of the nineteenth century, the mill incogped a significant capacity
for weaving cotton goods in addition to spinningrnyaWhilst the mill had
ceased to be used for manufacturing cotton goodbdy940s, the buildings
survive largely intact and now form one of the magportant historic textile-
manufacturing sites in Burnley. In 1991, on accanfnits special historic and
architectural interest, Victoria Mill was designéi Grade 1l Listed Building,
representing an important component of the Carmls§idnservation Area.
However, the buildings have been vacant for sewsrats and, until recently,
were in a very poor condition. Following the coBapof a private sector
application to promote a mixed-use commercial dgwalent on the site in
2008, Victoria Mill was acquired by Burnley Countal secure the buildings
for future refurbishment. In the first instancep@gramme of urgent works
was implemented to secure and stabilise the bggiand make the structures
watertight. This scheme of works included underpignof the principal
buildings, the removal of the roof and upper flafrthe engine house, the
provision of new roof coverings, and the over-baagdf windows and doors.

In April 2012, following the completion of the ungerepairs work, a planning
application was submitted to develop a new Uniwgr3iechnical College

(UTC) in Burnley, utilising the vacant Victoria MilThis major scheme is
being led by Training 2000, with private sectortpars in the aerospace
industry, and aims to create a facility focusingt@ining in engineering and
construction for 14-19 year olds. The project ismgedelivered by Barnfield

Investment Properties in partnership with Burnleugcil.

Whilst the proposed conversion of the mill compfex use as a UTC will
secure the long-term future of Victoria Mill, theheme will inevitably
necessitate a major refurbishment of the building#) the potential loss of
some historic fabric, fixtures and fittings. In erdto secure archaeological
interest, and as a condition to both listed bugdend conservation area
consents, Burnley Council advised that an appropitevel of archaeological
investigation should accompany the proposed dewstop. Following
consultation with the Lancashire County Archaeolo8grvice, in their
capacity as archaeological advisors to Burnley Cuit was recommended
that a building investigation commensurate with Erglish Heritage Level
[I/ll-type survey of the entire Victoria Mill compx was carried out in
advance of development work. The development prposiso allowed for
the demolition of a disused single-storey structumehe opposite bank of the
Leeds and Liverpool Canal, known as the WisemaeeStiWorks. It was
recommended that this site was subject to archgmalorecording to an
English Heritage Level | standard.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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1.14

1.2
121

1.2.2

1.2.3

In June 2012, Oxford Archaeology North (OA Northdsvcommissioned by
Barnfield Construction Ltd to carry out the spesiffi programme of

archaeological building investigation. The work waslertaken between June
and September 2012.

SITE LOCATION AND GEOLOGY

The study area lies on the western fringe of Byrmdevn centre (centred on
NGR SD 83452 32551), at a height of 131m above &rde Datum (Fig 1). It

is bounded by Trafalgar Street to the south-west,the Leeds and Liverpool
canal to the north-west (Plate 1). This part of idey is known as the

‘Weavers’ Triangle’, and forms the central partloé Canalside Conservation
Area.

The Canalside Conservation Area incorporates sofnéegtares along the
canal corridor, and is widely recognised as onthefmost important historic
industrial areas in the North West on account ef wrell-preserved group of
historic textile mills, engineering works, and clide architecture (Burnley
Borough Council 2009, 5). Victoria Mill is the domaint industrial building at
the north-western gateway to the Conservation Area.

< o & % o —_—

Plate 1: Recent aerial view of Victoria Mill, prido any development works, looking south

The solid geology of the area comprises mostly rsedtary rocks of the

Lower Westphalian coal measures. These are Cadyoud period deposits,
which date to between 290 and 345 million years, agd include sandstone
and Millstone grits. The overlying drift geology essentially post-glacial

deposits, predominantly boulder clay with some sref sands or gravels
(Countryside Commission 1998). The soils of the@urding area, as mapped
by the Ordnance Survey Soil Survey of England andled/ (1983), are

predominantly of the Brickfield 3 series, which a@mbic stagnogley soils,
deriving from the underlying geology.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1

211

2.1.2

2.1.3

214

2.2

221

BUILDING |INVESTIGATION

The building investigation of Victoria Mill was g&d out in several phases,
which commenced in 2010 with an initial assessnaamt English Heritage
Level I-type survey of the entire complex (OA No&BA10a), followed by a
Level Il survey of the privy tower, prior to itsmeval in 2011 (OA North
2011). Following a planning proposal by BarnfieldrStruction Ltd and other
stakeholders to convert the remainder of the comphto a University
Technical College, it was agreed that such workukhde preceded by an
archaeological survey commensurate with Englishitage Level [I/1II
standard.

The Level 1l/1ll survey aimed to provide a photoginéc and descriptive record
of the historic fabric and key architectural featuof the site, and to provide
an archive record of the structure and locatiororpto its remodelling.
Records were made of all external and internal efém as well as any
features of historical or architectural significancThese records are
essentially descriptive, although interpretationsweaarried out on site as
required. All work was carried out was consisterthvthe relevant standards
and procedures provided by the Institute for Archegists (IfA), and
generally accepted best practice. The work wasechaut in accordance with
a Written Scheme of InvestigatioAgpendix ), which was approved by the
Lancashire County Archaeology Service prior to doenmencement of the
survey.

Photographic Survey. a photographic archive of the structure was cosapil
consisting of both general and detailed photograp¥tech were captured
using a high-resolution digital format.

Site Drawings. architects drawings of the site were supplied larnield
Construction Ltd, and these were enhanced manuelith the resulting
drawings then digitised using AutoCAD software,pinduce plans at each
floor level. This was coupled with a written deption, maintained to English
Heritage (2006) Level Il standard. These records emsentially descriptive,
and provide a systematic account of the origin,etteyment and use of the
building structure.

ARCHIVE

A full archive of the work has been prepared torafgssional standard in
accordance with current English Heritage guidelid®®1) and th&uidelines
for the Preparation of Excavation Archives for Loiigrm StoraggUKIC
1990). The archive will be deposited with the Laliiee Record Office on
completion of the project. In addition, a copy bé treport will be forwarded
to the Lancashire Historic Environment Record (HER)

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3. BACKGROUND

3.1 HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT OF VICTORIA MILL

3.1.1 Victoria Mill was erected in 1854 for the Masseynily as a cotton-spinning
mill. The original form of the mill is poorly docuented, although its layout is
shown on a plan of 1861 (Plate 2), and replicated\alsh’s Plan of the
Municipal Borough of Burnlgywhich was published in 1882. These plans
show the mill complex to have comprised a rectaagrdnge on the northern
side of Trafalgar Street, with two smaller struetito the north, adjacent to
the canal. Additional detail was provided duringeaent assessment of the
buildings, which concluded that the original compilecluded a ten-bay long,
four-storey block, placed perpendicular to Trafal§&eet (OA North 2010a).
This building had incorporated an integral engimeide at its northern end,
and had almost certainly been a spinning block. Surgey also demonstrated
that the structure to the north of the spinningcklshown on historic plans
represented an earlier structure than the preseawing shed, whilst the other
building perhaps formed a warehouse with an aststiadanal wharf,
However, a devastating fire wrought considerablaatge to the mill in 1882,
and led ultimately to the reconstruction of lar¢gneents of the complex.

-

Plate 2: Extract from a Plan Showing the Line oft@¥and Gas Pipes dated 1861, with the
arrow marking the position of the original spinnibtpck

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.1.2 Victoria Mill in mentioned a newspaper article @8I, which reported that
the throstle spinners had gone on strike over aewdigpute Kluddersfield
Chronicle 3 September 1881). Further labour unrest wasrteghon 1886,
when the weavers at Victoria Mill went on strik@using the mill to close
(Manchester Time$ November 1886). This indicates that the milswause
as an integrated spinning and weaving complex aidhate. During the 1880s,
eight of the large spinning firms in Burnley ceasextling, and this included
ES Massey at Victoria Mill (Bennett 1951, 96).

3.1.3 In 1888, the Victoria Mill Company Ltd was regisdr with a capital of
£3000, to acquire the cotton-spinning business raildof Edward Massey
(Liverpool Mercury 12 March 1888). The change of ownership seemingly
failed to quell unrest amongst the workers, howewdth a strike at the mill
being reported in December 18®lqckburn Standardl7 December 1892).

3.1.4 The next detailed plan of the mill complex is pdmd by the Ordnance
Survey’s 1:500 map of 1892, which was surveyed888t9 (Plate 3). This
shows the mill complex to have been remodelledemhnded relative to the
footprint depicted on the earlier plans. The ppati newly constructed
buildings formed an L-shaped plan, with the longerge running parallel and
adjacent to the northern side of Trafalgar Strébts 10 x 7 bay, four-storey
block was of double-depth construction with paigatbles at its western end,
and contained carding engines and roving frameshenground floor, and
spinning mules on the upper floors; the mill hachpacity of 19,000 spindles
(Worrall 1891, 77). The privy tower was attachedhe eastern corner of the
spinning block. A seven-stage tower was added éostiuthern corner of this
block in 1889, and housed an automatic fire-spenklystem.

< = o =

o = . . . -l S

Weaving Shed

/\"% 2 / g /, ,:_ < - 2% / 4 4 i g - : ',,
Plate 3: Extract from the Ordnance Survey 1:500 map892, with annotation for the
principal elements of the site

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.1.5 The return range occupied the eastern boundarkieotite, and comprised a
two-storey weaving shed that incorporated the nalgengine house, albeit in
a remodelled form, at its northern end. This wegwhed occupied much of
the footprint of the original four-storey spinnifgock. Another two-storey
weaving shed and warehouse was also erected tmdtie of the engine
house. Access to a small, central yard was affovikeé covered passage that
ran between the engine house and the north-easéaving shed.

3.1.6 The Victoria Mill Company Ltd is listed in a trad#irectory for 1896 as
‘cotton spinners and manufacturers’ (Barrett 18B&?2). However, by 1900,
the company was dealing only in cotton waste.

3.1.7 In 1935 the mill was owned by RJ Patchett of Bradifevho advertised for let
2420yds of floor space in the mill. In the mid-194¢he mill was in use by
mattress-maker Hammond and Company, and later teen@ay have included
Leyfield Products, Victoria Tannery and BoldswoHloldings (Nadin 2008,
87-8).

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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4. RESULTS

4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

4.2

421

4.2.2

4.2.3

INTRODUCTION

The Victoria Mill complex incorporates sevelatinct elements, including an
extant multi-storey spinning block, the shell ofearlier spinning block, a six-
storey stair tower, an engine house, two weavingdsha preparation and
boiler house, and a chimney. The mill complex ogesi@ roughly triangular
site bounded by the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, algaf Street, and
Sandygate Mill to the south-east.

The Level | archaeological assessment of YectMill concluded that the
complex, when viewed in conjunction with the neighbng structures to the
south, was of outstanding significance (OA Nortdi@4). Within the Victoria

Mill complex, the original spinning block, despibaly surviving as a single
elevation, was also of outstanding significancewas the stair tower, which
housed well-preserved remains of a fine exampknadutomated fire-fighting
system, which survives extensively throughout tkiar® spinning block to the
north. The remaining elements of the complex welle cancluded to

individually be of great significancéb(d).

ORIGINAL SPINNING BLOCK (1854)

The earliest surviving fabric comprises a nine-lsgynning block, placed
perpendicular to Trafalgar Street, and of at |léast-storey height. Only the
north-western wall of this block survives (Plate Bing incorporated into the
later, double-depth spinning block, for the majoof its length. To the north,
the final two bays of the original structure weeeluced in height to equal that
of the attached transverse three-storey beam ehgume (Plate 5).

The exposed section of the external face is of séssandstone block
construction, with vertical 5’ (1.52m) wide windowsth projecting sandstone
sills, and apparently diminishing in size on thepep floors. The taller,
western bay is of rubble construction, representinginternal wall into an
original privy tower, which was removed in 2011. dways at each level
provided access from the spinning block, which wéssimilar sandstone
rubble construction on its inner face, with a 4@°37m) dressed plinth to
each floor (Plate 6).

Following the partial demolition of the spinningobk in the wake of a
devastating fire of 1882, it appears to have beensed as a narrow single-
storey preparation area or store. A central rouhode columns was inserted
to carry the channel-section valley of a doubleaspeof, which had a down-
pipe into an internal drain at its eastern endtéPTg. A corresponding row of
joist sockets survive in the south-eastern walbt@l7), whilst the north-
western wall retains only the wall scar of the flshing that appears to have
been inserted into the mortar bed of the wall shghelow first-floor window
sill level (Plate 6).

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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Plate 5: Fragment of the original spinning bloclefdre) and attached engine house (left),
following the removal of the privy tower in 2011

Plate 6: Internal north-west elevation of the orgl spinning block

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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4.3

43.1

4.3.2

Plate 7: Interior of original spinning block, withserted columns carrying the valley of a
double-span roof

ENGINE HOUSE

The engine house originally comprised only the mem 24" of the block (Figs
2 and 4; Plate 5). It housed a vertical beam engam was enlarged
subsequently on it south-western side, into theéeeasay of the spinning
block, with all but the western 12' (3.66m) of thauth wall being removed
and displaced 8'6"(2.59m) to the south. Followihg temoval of the engine
and its bed, the structure was remodelled to forthrae-storey workshop,
with concrete floors supported on a frame of [Hsectolled steel joists.

Although the ground floor is heavily rendered mdegtures remain visible
internally, including the scar of return at the tbaun end of the original
south-western wall. This appears to have includedoarway at the wall
junction, where the engine house projected beybedspinning block, with
the 6'6" high dressed sandstone jamb projecting ftbe demolished wall
core, complete with two pintels on the inner fa&aie 8). The engine house
was extended subsequently to the west, with a dmprimserted in a
corresponding position at the southern end of thehswest wall (Fig 4; Plate
8). The south-east wall appears to have had aopaniginal windows, each 4'
(1.22m) wide, and with large sandstone lintels fpmséd 8' (2.44m) above
floor level. These were subsequently cut for theelong of the window to
4'6" (1.37m) above floor level and 6' (1.83m) highth the eastern example
then being remodelled to form a doorway into thterlaveaving shed. The
north-east wall has doorways at either end, thaihetmorthern end probably
representing a later insertion, whilst that at sbethern end appears to have
formed the original access to the engine bed. Tlad a blocked aperture
above, which is unlikely to have been a fanlighgrenprobably representing
the bottom of a doorway affording access to dedlellavithin the engine
house.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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433 A 6’ (1.83m) wide window of 7’ (2.13m) height wasserted during the
remodelling, and is of brick construction withinetlvindow bay, below the
sill, and has a large area of rebuild wall, bongetlack sooty mortar, above
the internal timber lintel. A 2' (0.61m) wide, 9'@.90m) high wall scar, 7'8"
(2.34m) from the south-east wall appears to retatean internal partition
within the engine house, which at bed level suggtsit the southern end of
the structure was not related to the engine, aedetbre perhaps housed a
wagon boiler, which would have easily have fitteithw this space.

4.3.4 Within the south-west wall of the enlarged engineude the sandstone
surround for a bearing box survives at a simildagtmeto the windows in the
south-east wall (Plate 8). This formed the primsingft into the ground floor
of the later shed to the west. However, it was k#dcsubsequently, with a
small end-bearing box inserted into its externakfawvith a taller rectangular
bearing box inserted through the wall face at alamheight (Plate 8). This
almost certainly replaced the earlier cylindricalni drive shaft with a steel
rope.

Plate 8: Southern corner of the engine house, shgwcar of the original wall return, and
bearing boxes in the extension

4.3.5 The remodelling of the engine house following tleenoval of the engine,
probably in the mid-twentieth century, also inclddéhe insertion of an
internal stairwell in the north-west corner of tegucture (Figs 4-6). This
comprised a half-turn stair, with concrete stepd Emdings and a big spine
wall of full-brick thickness. The stairs affordedet principal access to the
newly inserted floors, although doorways were atserted to both floors of
the weaving shed, and also access onto the roof.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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4.3.6

4.3.7

At present first-floor level, the north-west waflthe engine house has the sill
of the large round-headed window immediately abofleor level,
demonstrating that the present ground floor houted engine bed. The
window was remodelled subsequently to form two igalt rectangular
windows (Plate 5). A blocked, roughly rectangulgrerure to the south
probably represents a socket for the frame of tiggnal engine, although any
matching pair to the north of the window was obeduby heavy render, as is
the original element of the south-western wall.tker along the north-western
wall, the plinth of the north-western wall of thpirmning block survives at
landing level, and has a return, forming the stuthe internal north-east wall
of the spinning block (Plate 9) with the insertémbf also consistent with that
in the weaving shed to the north and east.

The original window of the eastern bay of the smigrblock was remodelled
subsequently, being infilled in brick to form thasing for a bearing box. This
housed a drive shaft, and a bevel gear on theratterall face, the scar for
which still survives (Plate 5), translating the mowhrough 90°, where it ran
along the external face of the original spinningckl A corresponding 29 x
28" (0.74 x 0.71m) aperture was inserted crudelyirat-floor level in the
north-east-facing elevation of the privy tower, lwa similar aperture in its
south-west wall (OA North 2011). These represethedapertures for further
bearing boxes for a driveshaft, transferring pofsem the engine house into
the 1880s spinning block.

Plate 9: Extant elements of the original spinningd within the remodelled stairwell of the
engine house

4.3.8 A central doorway in the north-east wall of the ieeghouse facilitating access

into the northern section of the first-floor weayinshed was not a
contemporary feature, being inserted. This presilynabcurred when the
earlier doorway to engine deck level from an exdestair at the southern end
of the wall was blocked (Fig 5).
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4.3.9 The window at the opposite end of the north-eadlt efdhe engine house was
also almost certainly inserted. Several small acéasbuilding, in both stone
and brick, probably represent apertures relatinthéoframing of the original
engine (Plate 10). The western I-section steelnggejbist was placed in the
upper corner of a much larger rectangular blockipgobably of an
approximately 2'6" x 4' (0.76 x 1.22m) window. Arauilar aperture of
approximately 2' (0.61m) diameter is partially alred by the inserted ceiling,
and is brick blocked below, probably at the sanmeetithat the floor was
inserted (Plate 10). A 6" (0.15m) wide blocking, ig¥his almost the full
height of the present first floor, widens to 2'6"46m) one course above floor
level, and has a projecting dressed sandstone(Rldte 10). This has
decoration on its exposed face, suggesting itseragsa pad for the modified
engine.

-
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Plate 10: Blocked and inserted apertures in thetm@ast wall of the engine house, first floor

4.3.10 A vertical window at the southern end of the soedist wall reused the butt
joint between the original engine house and itemsibn as its northern jamb
(Plate 11). It was remodelled with brick jambs smdently, before being
externally brick blocked. The south-west wall o€ thnlarged engine house
has a relatively recently inserted doorway towdislgvestern end, presumably
replacing an earlier doorway that was 3' (0.91minfthe opposite end of the
wall. This was brick blocked flush with a large jaing sandstone lintel
(Plate 11), which actually formed the sill for aga bearing box for the
primary drive shaft. This was also similarly blodkeith engineering brick
(Plate 11). The bearing box almost certainly atsmiporated a bevel gear for
a shaft which ran along the wall face through aertape in the west wall of
the original spinning block, where an external beear powered a drive shaft
into the later spinning block fronting Trafalgaresit.
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Plate 11: Blocked window, door and large bearing bfirst floor, engine house

4.3.11 At second-floor level, within the inserted staiwgr, the original internal wall
of the spinning block bore the angled scar of thgls-pitched roof of a two-
storey structure placed against the south-westel® &f the engine house
(Plate 12). This projected slightly beyond the anbktween the spinning
block and the enlarged engine house (Fig 6), antstwih utilised the earlier
stone walls on three of its faces, its south-westemll was of brick
construction, in five-stretcher English Garden Wadhd (Plate 7). The roof
was evidently removed during the insertion of ttereell, and the building
was extended to the wall height of the adjacentirendpouse in random
sandstone rubble (Plate 7).

4.3.12 With the exception of the large round-headed windovithe north-western
elevation, all other windows appear inserted, Wi possible exception of a
tall central window in the north-east wall (Fig @his was flanked by two
large sockets for beams associated with the en@ftete 13). That to the west
was possibly the housing of the entablature beard, reeasured 39 x 27"
(0.99 x 0.69m), with a central 4" (0.10m) diamdtetes for tying-down bolts
in the lintel and sill (Plate 14). The smaller 12&" (0.48 x 0.51m) aperture
set slightly higher in the wall to the east (Pla®), appears to have been
placed above the flywheel, and may have houseda hused for lifting gear,
associated with the installation and maintenande@gngine.
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Plate 12: Scar of roof line within remodelled staéll, engine house

Plate 13: Large apertures associated with the eaginith dressed sandstone surrounds
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4.4

Plate 14: Detail of tying down bolt hole within seécl floor engine housing

SECONDARY SPINNING BLOCK

4.4.1 The spinning block was rebuilt in an expanded fanmthe Trafalgar Street

4.4.2

frontage, almost certainly following a fire in 188Phe new building was of
double-depth construction with paired gables andsth-western end (Plate
15), and a hipped roof to the earlier spinning blacthe south-east. Its 10 x 7
bay plan form is unusual for a spinning block, with 71’ (21.7m) width
being exceptional for the period; spinning blocksrentypically being 10-15m
wide, and considerably longer relative to their thidlhe probable reason for
this short but wide spinning block is probably tfedd: first, it incorporated
the existing wall of the earlier spinning blocketreversed window apertures,
having their inner recessed embrasures on the ,ocoertyard face of the
extant building; and second, it probably refletts intended use of the lower
floors of the structure for carding and roving maeiy.

Externally, the construction of the block reflettiat of the earlier buildings to
the east. It is of dressed coursed sandstone biath,projecting sandstone
sills, each with diagonally incised decoration. Tingls, which are of similar
style, have further dressed blocks between, formirggntinuous string band
to each floor (Plates 15 and 16). The windows & tipper two floors
diminish in both height and width, with accompamyimecreased wall
thickness, saving on construction cost, and gianthitectural proportion to
the structure.
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4.4.3

4.4.4

4.4.5

Plate 15: Double-depth spinning block fronting Edgfar Street, with later stair tower and
weaving shed beyond

In the northern five bays of the rear (north-eagte&levation, the lower two
floors differ in their construction, as they formed internal partition to a
contemporary perpendicular two-storey structurdn aitriple-span roof (Plate
16). Each bay had full-height apertures betweentiree structures on both
floors, but these were subsequently reduced to avisdmatching those
elsewhere, following the removal of the smalleusture. Whilst the ground-
floor string band in this part of the facade prtgesimilarly to that to the
south-east, it is only decorated in parts, whihgt tto the first floor is flush
with the wall face and incomplete, and all of threjgcting window sills are
plain, rather than decorated.

In the third bay from the north-western end of fdagade, a low-level door was
inserted into the first-floor aperture, with dredsend decorated sandstone
surround and a smaller window above (Plate 16)rsPaii pintels on both
jambs suggest that it had external, outward opetiaudple doors. Immediately
above, the space below the second-floor window rhashine-made brick
infilling, framing a timber lined hatch and paneiadl.

The north-western elevation has a parapet to ibsgables, and a 3'4” (1.02m)
wide ground- and first-floor scar at its northewrrer for the perpendicular
two-storey structure that originally extended fertho the north. The second
bay housed a diminished loophole, the ground flobrwhich appears

widened, retaining steel joist lintels, infilled tvi frogged machine-made
brick, bonded in black sooty mortar.
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4.4.6

4.4.7

4.4.8

— e = — - Y

Plate 16: North-eastern facade of the secondargrgpg block

The chamfered quoins of the entrance are also lobimda grey cement-based
mortar, with coal and grit inclusions, as opposedhte sandier lime based
mortar used elsewhere. The adjacent window was @swdelled into a

doorway, but thus was not undertaken until aftesught-iron protective bars
had been added to all the ground-floor windows bis Elevation, their

insertion causing cracking of the sandstone.

Ground Floor: at ground-floor level, all but the bays of the $paastern wall
comprise 5' (1.52m) wide windows, recessed 15"8iB8between 5' (1.52m)
piers with rounded embrasures (Plate 17). The pietse northern end of the
long walls are only 3'4” (1.02m) wide, and are vemudely keyed into the
north-west elevation. The south-eastern bay ofstinecture butts the privy
tower of the earlier spinning block, and is only(91m) wide, comprising a
7'5" (2.26m) high, brick-blocked doorway, with thitagstone lintel and a
further clinker-block blocked doorway above (Pl1a8).

The south-eastern wall is of different constructiagain comprising 5' wide
windows, but between similar width walls of dressesdstone block. Only
the narrower, 2'10" (0.86m) wide, northern windomlaced immediately

adjacent to the privy tower, retains it 8" (0.20ngh dressed and diagonally
decorated sill, which projects 134" (0.04m) from tall face (Plate 18).

Elsewhere the sills were removed, and the aperextended to floor level,

with those in the second and fourth bays being medeslightly below this

level. All were brick blocked subsequently, witketbxception of the southern
bay, which included a 3'4” (1.02m) wide, 7'3” 2.21imgh doorway into the

stair tower within the brick blocking. Elsewherbgtwalls are internally of

random sandstone rubble construction, with rougbdfed, rounded quoins to
the window embrasures (Plate 17). The lowest 41637(m) of these three
walls also have five courses of dressed sandstlmoksabove a 7" (0.18m)
high sandstone plinth, which projects 1" (0.03noyrirthe internal wall face

(Plate 17).
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Plate 18: Detail of the south-east corner of thewgrd floor, with original projecting sill of the deer
spinning block
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4.4.9 In the north-western wall, the second and thirdsbéiyom the north) were
modified to make entrances. In the latter, the wwmdaperture was simply
extended to plinth level, with a concrete ramp iiteskinternally to floor level.
In the second bay, which formed part of a loadiogphole, and probably
housed an original doorway, the aperture appeahnste been widened to 11'
(3.35m) for the insertion of a wider folding timb&oor, and with chamfered
external reveals added at this time.

4.4.10 The south-west wall, which forms the main facaddtafalgar Street, has a
two-bay wide projection, placed one bay from itstemn end (Plate 15). The
bays are of unequal size, divided by a full-bricickness wall, constructed in
five-stretcher English Garden Wall bond, in handdmhbrick using a pale lime
mortar. The eastern bay houses a straight timbertstthe first floor, the base
of which is supported on a machine-made brick wal§o of full-brick
thickness, but with only a single course of headBfate 19). Valves relating
to the sprinkler system were accessed within aovalon its eastern side. The
western bay has a blocked window and a column rofla style to those
elsewhere (but without the crush box) carrying mgdatimber pad to the
jointed ceiling beam above (Plate 19). Two bayshemr along the street
frontage, the ground floor window was remodelledaion a doorway, with a
projecting rendered brick porch added externalbtiton scars in the floor
demonstrate the position of the associated staindoom street level, which
is approximately 4' higher on this side of the tiaig).

Plate 19: Projecting tower of south-west elevatigth inserted stair and associated column

4.4.11 The ground-floor ceiling is carried on three rowishollow cylindrical cast-
iron columns of 7" (0.18m) diameter (Fig 4; Plat@).2These have a 9"
(0.23m) high, 8" (0.20m) diameter section at thetf@bove a chamfer to a
10" (0.25m) diameter base (Plate 21). This was eaki a rectangular base
plate, 20 x 1%" (0.50 x 0.28m) with 3" (0.08m) diameter circulzolt holes
either side of the column. These housed 12" (0.G8tjuoare nuts, presumably
on bolts inserted from below during constructiola{@21).
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4.4.12 Each column head was ribbed above a simple astragi@w a crush box of
similar dimensions to the base plate. These wees @pannel-section boxes,
with the base plate of the column above, placedctly onto the channel-
section casting below. The central row of columas lne shaft bolting plates
on the north-eastern faces of each column. Thedrangere bolted through
the thickness of the column, their position beimjustable by differential
tensioning of the upper and lower bolts (Plate Z3irs of bolts extending
through the ceiling immediately above this linefsipasition in the centre of
the southern seven bays suggest the position tifeiluhangers, and a much
larger pair of bolts to the east of the southerir, ggppear to represent a
mounting for a bevel gear, translating the powesmfra shaft placed
immediately to the west of the privy tower at aegliheight

Plate 20: General view of ground floor of extaninsing block

Plate 21: Detail of ground floor column foot
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Plate 22: Detail of ground floor ceiling construati

4.4.13 The rectangular-section timber beams each spana#ddtie width of the
structure, and were jointed above the central coluwhere the crush box
included a pair of bolt holes in either face. Théged the joint between the
two, presumably butt-ended timbers, using roundiadaolts and hexagonal
nuts on alternating faces of each column. The beainigh are apparently of
North American softwood, were stop-chamfered toheeslumn. Most are
significantly deflected, with late I-section propdded adjacent to the south-
western row of columns (Plate 20), and with thradier timber props and a
brick pier also supporting the beams at groundrflegel (Fig 4). The fourth
and fifth beams from the western end of the groflmat also had bolted iron
flitch plates added between the south-western antta columns. The beams
carried 7%2" (0.19m) x 3" (0.08m) joists, lap joidtento the beams on 16"
(0.41m) centres.

4.4.14 In the south-eastern corner of the ground floce, glkenultimate two bays had
transverse trimmers, of similar scantling to thdirng beams, placed 5'6"
(1.68m) from the north wall. These were housedinmpke cast-iron channel-
section hangers attached to the beam face withreduemded bolts. These do
not appear to have extended into the end bay, wiherd¢loor was recently
replaced, as there is no evidence for a hangehmisticce of the eastern ceiling
beam.

4.4.15 Whilst the majority of the ground-floor flooring erises a concrete skim,
evidence for earlier flagstones were observedlibwlthe third of the eastern
eight bays. Whilst the flooring is by no means ctet® in this area, the
exposed sections of flagstones suggest transveaghed rows of irregular-
sized flags of between 2 and 3%2" (0.05-0.09m) tesls. Further flagstones
almost certainly survive below much of the concedsewhere.
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4.4.16 Only two of the ground-floor windows are not moderaplacements,
surviving in the third and fourth bays from the teas end of the north wall,
Both were clinker blocked externally, but retainlght timber frames, with
tapering glazing bars and rectangular-section abmiwllion and transom,
below a centrally hung 12-light tilt opening abd¥#tate 17).

4.4.17 Evidence for the sprinkler system also surviveshenground floor, stemming
from the south-west corner of the ground floor. #proximately 6" (0.15m)
diameter pipe enters the spinning block in the sédoay at column head
level, from the main supply pipe in the newel oé thdjacent stair tower.
Unfortunately, a section of the almost completdesyshad a section removed
immediately adjacent to the south-east wall for itieertion of a late steel
beam (Plate 23). It is hung from both the ceilimgl &he ceiling beam in the
first bay (Plate 23), whereas in the remaining bidys hung only from the
ceiling beams, on cast-iron brackets. In the set@yd the pipe has a dog-leg,
displacing it from the western to the central catuifPlate 23). The pipe
diminishes along its length in the fifth and eighlays (Plate 20) to
approximately 3" (0.08m) diameter. In the westavo bays, where the floor
above has been replaced, the pipe was also remuvigain each bay, this
feed pipe has either a top or side spur to a TepiéBom where pipes of
approximately 1%2" (0.04m) diameter span across &agh In the sixth bay
(from the south-eastern end) the main pipe alsoah@spiece junction to an
additional spur, of approximately 2" (0.05m) diaergtrunning west between
the northern two column rows, but removed subsetpenthe western two
bays. This was presumably included for specific mra&ry within this bay,
which was possibly of greater fire risk, and dentiatss the mixed use of the
ground floor. In the south-west corner of the gdloor, a 2%" (0.06m)
diameter vertical water pipe has a square-secti@mrger on a control rod,
possibly representing a major control valve (Pfate

Plate 23: Main sprinkler pipe at ground floor level
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Plate 24: Control rod attached to water pipe at gnal-floor level

4.4.18 A short, straight timber stair in the south-westeorner currently affords
access to the stair tower, and appears to be oftwadtieth-century date,
although modified (Plate 24). It enters the stawwer through a remodelled
window aperture from the original spinning blockidaalthough there was
probably some communication between the ground féoal the stair tower,
its form remains unclear. Principal access to taér sower was from the
courtyard within the ground floor of the earlierirsging block, and it is
possible that access from the preparatory proceds® ground floor to the
spinning floors above was not generally requiradpfersonnel.

4.4.19 A stair of apparently similar mid-twentieth-centudgte also survives adjacent
to partitions added by the principal entrance i tlorth-east wall. This has a
replaced half-landing, and has very little headroton the first floor,
suggesting that it did not form regular access betwthe two floors. The
clinker block partitions inserted below formed tlabe toilet cubicles adjacent
to the north-east wall.
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4.4.20 First Floor: the first floor is of similar construction to flodwelow, with 5'
(1.52m) diameter windows. However, in the northteamselevation, the north-
eastern four bays have blocked window openings,h wit doorway
incorporating a rectangular stone surround inseriethe third bay from the
end. This afforded access into a later, and sulesglyudemolished, two-
storey structure (Plate 16).

4.4.21 The columns were of similar design, but of only(@:15m) diameter and with
the central row having the line shafting boltingtes on the south-western
face. Remarkably, the south-western row of colunwas repositioned 4'
(1.22m) towards the centre of the building (Fig the stop chamfers in the
ceiling beams clearly showing their original pamsiti (Plate 25). Partial
removal of a section of flooring above the groutwf column also revealed
that the foot of the first-floor column was secuttedthe column below by
being bolted into the beam below, rather than amnfof jointing of the
ironwork (Plate 26). An additional 5" (0.13m) diaerecolumn was inserted
in the south-eastern corner of the first floorthet first bay division, and was
centred 2'6" (0.76m) from the wall. It had a rolleldlamfer to a simple flat
head, below a timber pad, and had been inserteigport the end of the
beam, which had a section removed adjacent to #tiface (Plate 27).

Plate 25: Stop-chamfers and bolt holes relatingtiginal column position, first floor
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Plate 26: Detail of crush box of ground-floor colorand jointing to original position of
column above

Plate 27: Additional column inserted at first- fldevel to carry cut ceiling beam

4.4.22 The fourth column from the eastern end of the egnmosw had a cast-iron
corbel attached to its bolting plate, supportinfpatstep plate for the main
sprinkler pipe, which rose to the second floor hrs tposition (Plate 28). It
entered the first floor immediately adjacent to ¢téumn to the west, and had
a junction at its top, forming a feed to a longihad pipe between the central
and north-western column rows (Plate 28). This $iadlar spurs to each bay
as at ground floor level, with an additional spur the northern side in the
penultimate bay from the western end. Recessedniltie window bay at the
southern end of the north-western wall was a vadlating to the sprinkler
system. This almost certainly fed an external alaeth
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Plate 28: Detail of sprinkler system at first floevel

4.4.23 Above the doorway in the southern bay of the nedkt wall, the 8¥4" deep
sill and western jamb of an apparent 2'6" (0.76nUase aperture survive.
This probably represents the housing for a bedimg relating to a primary
drive shaft from the engine house to the north-éastick-blocked 2' (0.61m)
square aperture within a 6" (0.15m) wider, rebatedtion of wall in the
adjacent south-eastern elevation is almost ceytaiséociated, with a vertical
shaft almost certainly being placed in this positiBlate 29). A 6'5" x 3" (1.96
x 0.08m) doorway beneath was blocked with lateriregging brick, whilst a
doorway into the privy tower, at the southern efdhe north-east wall was
more recently clinker blocked (Plate 29).

4.4.24 A ceiling level 2' (0.61m) wide, relatively orna¢ad bearing box survives in
the south-east wall, one bay to the north of th@raécolumn line (Plate 30).
This aligned with pairs of bolt holes, placed o®ly(0.15m) apart through
each ceiling beam, 2’ (0.61m) to the south of tbethreastern column row
(Fig 5; Plate). Similar bolt hole pairs were obsehfollowing the cleaning of
the beams, 2’3" (0.68m) from the north-eastern waaid 6 and 13’ (1.83 and
3.96m) from the north-west wall. Whilst severalelishafts would have been
used to power the relative small throstle framiess, likely that one of the two
lines in the western bay represents a replacerSentral of the ceiling beams
also had cut-outs in their face or soffit (Plat9, 25t as no patterns were
identified, it is difficult to interpret their funion.
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Plate 29: Bearing boxes in south-east corner at filoor

Plate 30: Ornate end bearing box at first floordév

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012



University Technical College, Victoria Mill, BurleArchaeological Building Investigation 31

4.4.25 The projecting two-bay structure towards the southend of the south-
western facade has two I-section beams acrosstir@al wall face, each 10 x
4" (0.25 x 0.120m), and with no discernible rollisggmp. These carry a pair of
smaller 8 x 4" (0.20 x 0.10m) steel joists, cargyim similar thickness wall
above, and supported by a one-brick square pitdreadffset bay division. A
twentieth-century straight stair rises from grodiwar level immediately to
the north, with a series of scars within a bituraed felt covering to the floor
in the eastern five bays of this area (Plate 2Gjgesting office partitions. An
early or mid-twentieth-century safe adjacent to tioeth-west wall between
the fourth and fifth bays suggests that the managdéiice was placed in this
position. Original access was from the stair tomethe south-eastern corner,
although it remains unclear why additional interagtess was required in
such a relatively close position. A further strdigdtair of similar style
afforded access directly from Trafalgar Streetinserted first-floor offices.

4.4.26 Elsewhere, the floor comprises longitudinally ph&2" x 16' (0.24 x 4.88m)
planks (Plate 26). These were grooved in eitheeddg a’ x %" (0.02 x
0.01m) loose tongue. These overlay a double lafy&"¢0.02m) thick, 4 to 9"
(0.10-0.23m) wide boards, the lower of which weiid transversely.

4.4.27 Second Floor: the second floor is very similar to that belowjngeof non-
fireproof construction, and having had the norttst@en row of columns
repositioned 4' (1.22m) towards the centre-linéhefmill. However, there are
subtle differences; the columns are more slendemgbonly 5" (0.12m)
diameter, the outer rows of columns have flat, @atthan channel-section
heads, with the central row columns not includingibg plates for line shaft
hangers within the castings. The windows are alscenslender, being only
4'6" (1.37m) wide between larger piers (Fig 6). Taduitional columns were
placed in the south-eastern corner of the floorthat second and third bay
divisions (Fig 6). These are also of 5" (0.12m)nuéter, but are not ribbed,
with simple astragals below a 10" (0.25m) flat ceqth square-section bolt
holes. Whilst the southern of the two beams isacljgcent to the north wall,
the columns appear to relate primarily to an ireeff-section cast-iron beam
in the third bay, placed 3' from the north-eastllate 31). This has a 20"
mounting at its western end, with four rectangskaction bolt holes, typical
of a shafting hanger. An infilled aperture with dstone surround in the
adjacent north-east wall housed the end bearingttigr shaft, the hanger
almost certainly housing a bevel gear. At the ogpasde of the building, the
adjacent ceiling beam has been spliced, and hasdditional beam below,
bolted from above, and supported at its end by raate chamfered timber
post (Plate 32). A rebate in the soffit of the orad beam above, almost
certainly mark the position of an end bearing féroaizontal line shaft. These
are replicated along the length of the floor, witlo pairs of bolt holes, 19”
(0.48m) apart, placed 3’ from the column row, watlsimilar arrangement of
bolt holes on each beam placed 2’ (0.61m) insidertbrth-eastern column
row (Fig 6). Evidence for a blocked bearing boxrape, presumably similar
to that on the first floor, was observed followiting cleaning of the south-east
wall. Further bolt hole pairs, on similar spacingghe floor below, were also
placed 6 (1.83m) from either long elevation, wihfinal set, spaced 9”
(0.23m), 7’ (2.13m) to the south-west of the cdricdumn row (Fig 6).
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Plate 31: Cast-iron beam with bolting plate fordishaft hanger above blocked end bearing box in
wall

Plate 32: Spliced and propped beam at second-fiogs!
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4.4.28 The projecting bays towards the southern end ohthéh-west elevation are
sub-divided by an L-shaped, hand-made brick wafuthbrick thickness. The
main sprinkler pipe rises vertically from the fifktor, and continues up to the
third floor, with a simple T-piece junction for tlsecond floor off-take. Only
its spur to the east survives.

4.4.29 In the north-eastern three bays adjacent to théhsast wall, a 2'6" (0.76m)
width of replaced floorboards at second- and tfwdr level suggests some
form of communication between the two. A paint socarthe eastern jamb of
the third bay window rises at approximately 60°nifrdhe east, possibly
representing the only surviving evidence for thigioal internal stair, prior to
the construction of the fireproof stair tower in888 Two areas of raised
flooring in the eastern two bays demonstrate thsitipo of relatively late
offices.

4.4.30 Third Floor: the third floor differs considerably from thoseldwe, having
only a central row of 5" (0.12m) diameter columksy(7: Plate 33). These
retain the channel section heads, not only supmpthe jointed beams above,
but also the valley between the two roof spans.Bdeto the north-east of the
column row has edge-set trimmers in cast-iron etckio each bay (Plate
34), although that in the south-eastern bay has lwst. In the third bay (from
the south-east) a further trimmer, placed adjatettie columns, is laid on its
opposite axis. A final edge set trimmer, has besnoved from the second
bay, adjacent to the south-east wall. The beams heany irregular bolt hole
pairs in their faces, but a row of pairs, centrpdreximately 5' (1.52m) from
the north-east wall in the north-western five beafign with a small indent in
the soffit of the adjacent beam, an 18" (0.46m)engdt-out in the soffit of the
eastern beam, and a blocked aperture in the sasthweall, which probably
represents an infilled end bearing box. This stiypsgggests the position of a
line shaft, and that spinning was also undertakethis floor.

Plate 33: General view of third floor of extantsping block
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Plate 34: Trimmers between tie beams, housed iicas brackets

4.4.31 The beams form ties to composite king tie trussa#) approximately 2"
(0.05m) diameter wrought-iron king ties with casti housings at the apex
with castings for 8 x 3" (0.20 x 0.08m) ridge pasliin either face (Plate 35).
Similar scantling collars are bolted onto the aastace of each truss (Plate
35). The roof above has been renewed, althougtptimeipal rafters were
retained, and these bear no evidence for purlitetgB5). Each bay of the
south-east wall has two projecting cast-iron carbeith a 3" (0.08m) housing
for a transverse timber beam above (Plate 36). Whss replaced latterly with
laminate timber beams, but appears to have algpnatly housed the wall
plate for the hipped roof. This is a most unusuedregement, but appears to
have been part of the solution of joining the roofsthe earlier and later
spinning blocks. The north-west wall of the earlgructure was slightly
higher, and had an internal sandstone gully belpachpet coping stones
(Plate 37). It seems likely that a similar chanweals added to the external
face, forming a drainage channel for the lower fche newer structure.

4.4.32 The upper-floor windows are only 4' (1.22m) widefvieeen 6' (1.83m) piers,
with the loading bay in the north wall retaining atlappears to be an original
doorway and associated hoist gear (Plate 38), cted/subsequently for use
with an electric motor. The hoist was locally mamtbtired by Samuel
Baldwin & Heap Ltd, Makers, Burnley, (Englanddnd hung from the north-
western beam, although it appears to have beesféraed latterly to inserted
rolled steel joists (Plate 38). It also retainsrggp connected by a rope to a
gear wheel on the adjacent beam, which is conneated fixed axle to a
smaller, wider wheel that transferred power frotina shaft via a leather belt
drive (Plate 38).
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Plate 36: Corbel housing wall plate against souttstewall
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Plate 39: Original hoist on third floor of spinnifgock

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012



University Technical College, Victoria Mill, BurleArchaeological Building Investigation 37

4.4.33 The projecting bays in the south-western corngheffloor retain an L-shaped

4.5

45.1

wall, similar to the floor below, but with two I-s&on steel joists supporting
both the tie beams to the west, and the valleyhef gitched roof of the
projecting bays. Joist sockets 1' above floor lemethe western face of the
dividing wall suggest further internal partition sveemoved subsequently. The
floor comprises only a single layer of transver@ex19" x %" (0.30 x 0.23,
0.02m) boards, with several areas of repair oracghent. A vertical water
pipe in the south-western corner of the floor retaa square spanner and
pulley similar to that at ground-floor level.

SrAIR TOWER

The later 1889 stair tower is of sandstone andkbifireproof construction,

with flag floors. It was constructed to a heightsof storeys, two higher than
the adjacent spinning blocks, and has a greateedeyg architectural detailing
(Plate 15). This includes round-headed windows t¢P%0) and decorated
plasterwork internally, augmenting dressed and ide¢ed stonework to the
hollow newel, and the lowest 4'7" (1.40m) of eaciarter turn landing (Plate
41). The lower three floors of the tower are cangtd internally in random
rubble, with later blocking / rebuilding of the wiow aperture in the west wall
of the earlier spinning block. At third-floor heiglall but the west wall are of
brick construction internally (Plate 40), as is tierth wall on the remaining
floors of the tower, where it projects above thegheof the earlier structure.
Each of the lower floors have projecting convexdsaone corbels below
ceiling level in the north-west wall to support lasection beam which carries
the western edge of the three sandstone flagscbflaading.

Plate 40: Round-headed windows in brick elevatiomgifth floor of stair tower, with valve
and spur on dog-legged main sprinkler pipe
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45.2

45.3

45.4

Plate 41: Decorative ashlar stonework below rubtdastruction within stair tower

The central newel is of dressed and decorated ragibek (Plate 42),
measuring 5 x 3' (1.52 x 0.91m) to third-floor lamglheight, where it widens
to 4' (1.22m), and is capped with a two piece 8% (1.6 x 0.99m) rolled
sandstone lid of 3%" (0.09m) thickness (Plate 4R)later brick box of
similar dimensions sits on a raised timber floothe south and has a metal
sheet lid (Plate 42). The newel housed the suppg for the automated
sprinkler system, manufactured by Witter & Son oftBn.

‘The ‘Witter’ automatic sprinkler gained a reputati for reliability and
robustness, and was one of the earliest such systeweloped, following
the introduction of sprinkler systems into Britadring the early 1880s.
Indeed, by 1888, the year prior to the installatdfrthe system at Victoria
Mill, only 233 cotton mills in England had workingutomated sprinkler
systems (Wormald 1923). On each floor, the neweal &@a access hatch
comprising a 19 x 20" (0.48 x 0.51m) iron housing & sliding metal sheet
door (Plate 42). Each had a handle at its baswialipit to be raised to gain
access to the sprinkler feed pipe when required.

The main valve is located within the earlier spingnblock to the east (Plate
43). From the main valve, sometimes referred t@a &Shristmas tree’, the
water supply entered the spinning block, beforendperansferred between
floors in vertical pipes placed adjacent to colunirtse system, including the
glass bulb sprinklers themselves (Plate 44), agpéar survive almost
completely intact.
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Plate 43: ‘Christmas tree’ valve of Witter autondtprinkler system
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4.5.5

4.5.6

4.5.7

Plate 44: Glass sprinkler bulb

A 6" (0.15m) diameter pipe and a smaller 1" (0.03npe rise through the
floor above to an S-bend, with valve and spur €P#), deflecting the pipe to
the north, before it rises through the cast-irosebaf the water tank, housed
on the upper floor below a single-pitch roof. Tla@k measures 15'9" x 10'
(4.80 x. 3.04m) and is 5' (1.52m) deep, and coraprive rows of two 5 x 3’
(1.52 x 0.91m) base panels and five 4 x 3’ (1.229m) side panels (Plate
45), each with decorated outer face (Plate 46). tAh& has two transverse,
and one longitudinal wrought-iron rod braces, withast iron housings (Plate
45). A secondary pipe rises to almost the top lewghin the tank,
demonstrating its use to fill the tank (Plate 4&ith a 2¥2" (0.06m) diameter
pipe entering from below, but truncated within therth floor level.

The tank is carried on two 1' x 6" (0.30 x 0.15nr®8ettion beams, with the
remainder of the upper floor comprising four lodsk x 1%%" (28 x 0.04m)

planks and a 21" (0.53m) wide raised section of(@10m) tongue and

grooved boards on joists adjacent to the south (pkite 46). The floor below
comprises longitudinal 4%- 5" (0.11-0.13m) tongud grooved boards above
9 x 3" (0.23 x 0.08m) joists on 16" (0.41m) centrése upper two floors are
accessed by steep timber stairs, only 26%2" (0.6¥i¢, with open tenoned
treads of 6 x 194" (0.15 x 0.04m) and chamferedareglar section handrails
and newel posts.

Below ceiling level on the third floor, attachedttee north wall, is a timber
water gauge for the tank above. It retains red tpdirfull and half unit
measures, with the numerals 1 to 4 and the wordLFdawn the left side
(Plate 47).
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4.5.8 At ground- and first-floor level the tower had ommadoorways into the
weaving shed to the east, with a further doorway the reduced two-storey
block to the north at ground-floor level. The entras into the spinning block
were far plainer, having only a simple rolled jaotbthe southern side, and a
square rebate on the north, presumably originallysing fireproof doors.

Plate 45: Construction of sprinkler system headrkt

Plate 46: Decorative panelling of sprinkler systeeader tank
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Plate 47: Water level gauge for sprinkler systerades tank
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4.6 WEAVING SHEDS

4.6.1 The tower was of a broadly contemporary date tev@dtorey weaving shed
and warehouse along the eastern boundary of tHecamiplex. This was of
red brick construction (Plate 48), with the exceptof the Trafalgar Street
facade, which is of stone, and may be a remnaahdadarlier structure, as are
sections of the north-east elevation.

4.6.2 The lower floor of the weaving shed is of firepramfnstruction, with wide-
spanning vaulting. It is punctuated by a passageatveugh the building (Fig
4; Plate 49), placed immediately north of, and pelrto the engine house. To
the south-west, the warehousing is divided by eerted transverse wall,
which encloses a row of columns, and marks a chamdbe present floor
level.

/

Plate 48: Southern aspect of the late nineteenttitcg weaving shed
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Plate 49: Passageway with apertures into earlieasture and fireproof vaulted ceiling
below first-floor weaving shed

4.6.3 The smaller, irregularly-shaped ground floor to timeth of the passageway,
follows the line of the Leeds and Liverpool Careatd is also of fireproof
construction, and with high arched ceilings of cete construction. The
concrete appears original and mainly comprises languebbles of 1 to 2”
(0.03-0.05m) diameter, bonded in a grey matrix witharcoal inclusions
(Plate 50). This was sealed on the underside with' £0.01m) thickness of
plaster, which previously had given the illusion afvering brick. The
concrete appears to have been formed in two stdgs8y forming the
ceiling arch, with a subsequent layer forming treawng shed floor above
(Plate 50). Strengthening bars also run lateraitgugh the concrete, placed
between columns, which are vertically interlockiapove the I-section
ceiling beams (Plate 51). These | section beam&4ir€0.36m) thick at their
junction with the columns, around which they areutded, and appear to be
whale backed in profile (Plate 51). Above this fothe column has a 6"
(0.15m) high bolting plate cast on its western fatkis houses the rods
joining the beams either side (Plate 51). The udaét (0.04m) diameter
rod, from the west, has a round washer and a heshgaot, whilst the lower
bolt has a moulded washer, curved around the columits inner face with a
flat 3v2 x 22" (0.09 x 0.06m) outer face for the 234%2" (0.06 x 0.04m)
hexagonal nut (Plate 51). The 6" (0.15m) diamatst floor column has a
3%" (0.09m) deep, 8" (0.20m) diameter foot, whigpears socketted onto
the column below, without any form of fixing (Pleié). The concrete itself
has a maximum thickness of 2' (0.61m), adjacenhé¢ocolumn (Plates 50
and 51). The lower 11%2" (0.29m), infilling the aeg beam web, is hard, but
the remainder, below a 2" (0.05m) thick fine agategflooring layer,
comprises very loose aggregate and clinker (Pla@esnd 51). This may
have been incorporated to reduce vibration.
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Plate 50: Detail of concrete ceiling arch constrioct
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Plate 51: Detail of column jointing between floafsthe weaving shed
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4.6.4

4.6.5

4.6.6

4.6.7

The east and west bays have longitudinally aligaethes, with those in the
eastern bay irregularly spaced either side of artag stone chimney (Plate
52), whilst the central six bays have transversbes. These are carried on 7"
(0.18m) diameter columns placed 9'6" (2.90m) ant (23%¥9m) apart, the
southern row being obscured at its western end layea full-brick thickness
partition in English bond.

Plate 52: General view of the northern preparatemea, ground floor, weaving shed

The triangular bay in the north-western corner ld building has a flat

ceiling, whilst that to the south had no ceilingts western 5' (1.52m) of the
bay, suggesting the position of an internal haighe floor above. This hole in
the ceiling was infilled subsequently with concrefbde end of the I-section
beam to the south is carried on a 20" (0.51m) sgstone pillar within the

west wall, which also forms the jamb to an 8' (27¥44vide doorway.

The north-east wall follows the line of the canahd has tall windows of
approximately 5'8" (1.73m) width, except from tiathe fourth bay from the
east end, which is narrower. The south-east wall $imilar windows, with

that in the second bay from the southern end retia damaged nine-light
timber frame. A doorway (with blocked fan light ale on its northern side
afforded access, whilst the chimney to the nortls weorporated into the
building and was flanked by narrower windows (PE2¢.

The partitioned room in the south-western cornpragents the remains of an
earlier boiler house, constructed originally indstone, and with the remnant
of flues in its south-eastern wall (Plate 53). ylvheels, relating to damper
control rods for the butterfly valves of the boillwes also survivedn-situ,
attached to the southern transverse ceiling beampresumably served the
engine house immediately to the south of the passaith the flues leading to
a tapering stone chimney, which was incorporatéd the east external wall
of the weaving shed. Recent subsidence within thezlmouse by the canal-
side revealed structural remains below floor lesafjgesting that culverts and
features relating to earlier processing within fhast of the site survive.
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4.6.8

4.6.9

- P i I

Plate 53: Blocked, refractory brick-lined flue iough east wall of boiler house, with pulley
wheels for dampers on the ceiling beams above

The south-east wall of the earlier boiler house 8% (0.46m) thick and
incorporated dressed sandstone blocks in its edtéane. Its northern end was
reduced to form an apparent buttress to a partivall, but still retained a
brick-blocked 3' (0.91m) wide aperture that woult/é housed the flue from
the northern boiler (Plate 54).

The brick partition between the boiler house amdrdmainder of the building

incorporated earlier 6" (0.15m) diameter hollowingtical columns placed 9

(0.23m) apart, and not below the beams of the wayltvhich were supported
on sandstone pads set within the brick wall (P¥e This suggests that the
vaulting was not part of the original constructiohthe two-storey building.

The vaulting in this part of the structure was disick, rather than concrete
(Plate 55), also suggesting a different date ofstation. It is therefore

probable that both the columns and the brick vagltielate to the original

structure, prior to its incorporation into the lateuilding. This may also

explain the reduction in height of the stone-bsduth-east wall of the boiler
house at an approximate 45° angle (Plate 54). Tthqwest elevation also
appears original, with its internal stone piersloger carrying longitudinal

ceiling beams, and with the south-eastern two set dlose to allow the

insertion of a 8' diameter Lancashire boiler, raqgi carving to facilitate the

process (Plate 56).
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Plate 54: Reduced stone wall within later weavihgds with blocked flue bottom left
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Plate 55: Earlier columns concealed within brickritéon, with brick vaulting above
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Plate 56: North-western face of preparation bloskeaving shed, with enlarged doorway for
insertion of Lancashire boiler

4.6.10 The south-west wall has a projecting external plifRlate 49), matching that
of the engine house to the south, and has 4' wodewdhy at its north-western
end, with dressed and decorated sandstone surr@®late 49), and rolled
internal embrasure. A lower (4'6") doorway at thlestern end if the original
boiler house wall was of only 3' width and appeatglely inserted, with brick
jambs and a metal lintel, and late rough brick kiog.

4.6.11 A further inserted aperture at the base of thehmwntend of the south-east
wall is 26" wide, and is of refractory brick consttion below a cast-iron
lintel. This housed the flue from the southernwb tLancashire boilers, and
was brick blocked subsequently following the remasfathe boilers. A 28"
square aperture immediately to the north, and plandgher in the elevation,
had a timber lintel above refractory brick blockirmmd represents an original
window. Five higher-level windows in the south-westll were each 3' wide
and of semi-circular design with dressed sandssomeounds and apparently
with external metal shutters (Plate 49), allowinght into the original
structure. Brick rebuilding above relates to thalitoin of the two-storey
weaving shed, obscuring the aperture housing #aspipe to the engine.

4.6.12 Beyond the original stone structure, in the souttwrner of the ground floor
to the north of the passageway, a 3% x 1 bay roonsdd a further structure
relating to the power plant. Its north-west wallmgwises a mixture of wire-cut
red and yellow refractory bricks, laid in four afiee stretcher English Garden
Wall bond (Plate 57). The south-west wall was ofsded sandstone
externally, but was internally faced with similaiidk to the north-west wall,
laid in three stretcher English Garden Wall bonlil b&t the eastern 9' (2.74m)
of the wall was lined with a further keyed skinrefractory brick, to a height
of 6’2" (1.87m) above present earth floor level,em a course of edge set
brick supported a course of 6" (0.15m) thick 9'2@m) wide refractory tiles,
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which projected up to 7" (0.18m) beyond the waltefaPlate 57). These
represented the roof of a structure, almost cdytain economiser, which was
fed by the flue in the southern corner of the bolleuse to the immediate
west. At the eastern end of the refractory linialgove a height of 2' (0.61m),
and level with the flue top from the boilers, theken return of its eastern
wall is visible, although there is no associatear s the north-east wall. The
lower part of the wall continues along the wallddor a further 34" (0.86m)
where it has the remains of a concrete skirt. Thisms the edge of a very
rough floor, the slight cleaning of which revealslow-ground remains of an
edge-set sandstone structure and a brick-lined Au2'2" (0.06m) diameter
hollow steel pipe spanning the room at this poih{0.18m) above the rough
floor, presumably relates to the framing of thesture within the building.

Plate 57: Probable economiser structure within grdifloor of the weaving shed

4.6.13 The passageway to the south also has a concréteeaoeiling, on a similar
alignment to the building to the south, althougtried on narrower I-section
beams (Plate 49). Although the corridor extendobdythe southern extent of
both the engine and boiler houses, it was faceld siilar dressed stone on
both sides. A doorway with rubbed quoins was inetudt the southern end of
the passage in an angled return to the weaving @ate 48), at which point
the wall became faced with engineering brick, catsed in three-stretcher
English Garden Wall bond (Plate 48).

4.6.14The ground floor of the structure comprised twomsp separated by a
partition of full-brick thickness. This represematsemodelling of the structure,
clearly demonstrated by the retention of the oabinolumns within the
partition (Fig 4; Plate 58). The floor level of thestern room was also raised
by 6” (0.15m) at this time, possibly when it wasneerted into Victoria
Skating Rink Prior to 1912, when the room is markadhe Ordnance Survey
1:2500 edition (Fig 3).
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4.6.15A “Hunter & Bennie, Partick, GlasgdwCodd bottle was recovered from
beneath this floor, when it was removed duringgtesent renovation scheme.
Whilst Codd bottles were introduced in 1872, priorthe erection of the
structure, they became less common in the firstdies of the twentieth
century, suggesting that the floor was raised atotins time at the latest.
Elements of the original flagstone floor survivedthe eastern part of the
shed, comprising relatively small 3 x 2' (0.91 &1in) flagstones.

Plate 58: Columns incorporated within inserted Brgartition in the weaving shed

4.6.16 The ceiling throughout the structure was continuaod comprised concrete
vaulting, identical in structure to that to the theeast, and also carried on 7"
(0.18m) diameter columns (Plate 58). The majorifytlee vaulting was
placed on a north-west/south-east alignment (F8)e although the outer
bays and that on the western side of the engineseéhdwad transversely
aligned vaulting (Fig 4; Plate 59). Line shaft harsgwere mounted directly
onto the inverted T-section ceiling beams, thelyseguent removal leaving
only four small scars (Plate 59). Twositu hangers survived approximately
midway between the south-eastern column and then rw&ding doors,
presumably providing power for a hoist that was oeed subsequently
(Plate 60). The hoist carriage remained within diéris in the shed, along
with a Singer sewing machine, the hoist being mactufed by The Lift &
Hoist C Premier Ironworks,Deptford, Londoh Further shafts appear to
have been placed midway between the other colums,rand to the north-
west wall. These shafts do not align with either bearing box or vertical
aperture in the west wall of the engine house éP3&), suggesting that the
transversely laid beams adjacent to the engindedaa bevel gear. The
inserted brick partition incorporated a bearing lmits north-eastern face
(Plate 58), place at the midpoint between the tvasthern columns,
demonstrating that power was retained within that pof the building
following its partition.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012



University Technical College, Victoria Mill, BurrjleArchaeological Building Investigation 52

Plate 59: Vaulting alignments, scars for line shadnhgers, and blocked bearing boxes in
engine house wall

Plate 60: In-situ line shaft hanger in the weavsiged
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4.6.17 The north-west wall of the shed was of random relgainstruction, and had a
wide doorway into the original spinning block. Artiier man door was
blocked, and had a decorated lintel, suggestivanoéxternal face. A further
doorway affording access to a passageway on théhesouside of the stair
tower, had rolled render reveals, and was insatedreet level, significantly
above original floor level within the shed.

4.6.18 The first floor of the structure comprises a lavggaving shed (Plate 61), with
north-light, saw-toothed roofing, supported on twishat are probably of
wrought iron. These are carried on 5" (0.13m) digmeylindrical cast-iron
columns, each with a line shaft hanger boltingelan its eastern face, with
through-bolt holes on the reverse (Plate 62). Bodhst of the engine house,
however, only alternate valleys were supported urans, with the
intervening valleys carried on transverse, whalekbd cast-iron beams (Fig
5; Plates 61 and 62). Each of these had a castimanfadditional bolting plate
for a line shaft hanger below each unsupporteceydlPlate 62). Within this
part of the shed, to the east of the chimney insth&h-east wall, and to the
west of the engine house in the north-west wdllbays have 8' high vertical
windows (Plates 61 and 63). This strongly suggési$ weaving was not
undertaken in this part of the shed.

Plate 61: General view of the first-floor weavirtues
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Plate 63: Chimney incorporated in weaving shedhwstub of line shaft hanger to right

4.6.19 Elsewhere, the south-eastern wall has 6' wide, @ép arched alcoves within
each bay (Fig 5). The third from the west end igrtam by a 2' (0.61m)
square hand made and refractory brick flue, preblymtor a late stove
inserted at ground floor level and removed subsatjueFour bays to the
south of the chimney, around which the brick wallconstructed (Plate 63),
the south-east wall has a 9’ (2.74m) wide loadingrdwith I-section lintel,
and an inserted motorised hoist, housed on a framkewf I-section steel
beams, attached to the bolting plates of the edntie-shaft hangers at either
side (Plate 64). The broken foot of a single lihafs hanger survivem-situ,
immediately adjacent to the chimney, against thelseast wall (Plate 63).
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Plate 64: Inserted hoist, attached to line shafgper bolting plate

4.6.20 The southern five bays of the Trafalgar Street wale similar alcoves, but
with a continuous projecting sandstone plinth, @1%m) high at the base of
the wall. To the north the wall is plain except faojecting bolt triplets for
line shaft bevel gears (Plate 65), which extendglihe length of the wall to
an extant 10" (0.25m) square end bearing box felitte shaft adjacent to the
southern column row (Fig 5; Plate 66). This sugg#sit the two line shafts to
the south were powered by a belt from this shaft.

Plate 65: Bolting face for bevel gear in south-wsatl of weaving shed
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Plate 66: Bearing box above bevel gear in southtwed of weaving shed

4.6.21 The north-light roof comprises 18%" (0.47m) wideatms with 13" (0.33m)
wide, 7" (0.18m) high central channels for draindBéte 67). Each beam
section spans the 20’ (6.09m) length between codymuinere they are butt
jointed with two bolts either side, and with an giddal U-section base plate,
forming part of the casting of the column capifdlaie 68). The beams were
laterally braced with tensioning rods, bolted tlglouhe face of the valley
channels (Plate 68). 3.%2" (0.08m) wide, T-sectiast-¢ron rafters were also
bolted to the face of the valley channels (Platg §¥aced on 80" (2.03m)
centres to form the frame of the glazed north-eagigch. At their upper end,
they had a jowled head with four bolts to an edgetsnber ridge board,
which were butt-jointed in this position (Plate 6%he gentler sloping south-
west pitch was formed of similar edge set, 5% x 10213 x 0.04m) timber
rafters, placed on 15" (0.38m) centres (Plate Ba&rh ridge also has a 6' x 6"
(1.83 x 0.15m) timber vent with circular openingdjacent to the ridge on the
south-western pitch within each bay (Plate 67).

4.6.22 The engine house has an infilled window in its Beedistern wall at first-floor
level, blocked with brick when the weaving shed wamstructed. Three
apertures in the south-western wall were also tddakith brick, The southern
of these was 3' (0.91m) wide, and had a dresset storround (Plate 70),
representing the housing for the primary drive shatio the shed. It was
remodelled subsequently to form a narrower 2' {@)6aperture immediately
to the north. The remaining square apertures weah @pproximately 1’
(0.30m) square, and appear to represent the posfi@nd bearings for the
northern two line shafts (Fig 5; Plate 70).
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Plate 68: Jointing of valley gutter at column capit
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Plate 70: Columns incorporated within inserted brick partition in the weaving shed
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4.7

4.7.1

4.7.2

4.7.3

4.7.4

WISEMAN STREET WORKS

As part of the remodelling of the Victoria Mill cgiiex, landscaping on the
opposite side of the Leeds and Liverpool Canaldetthe proposal to demolish
a single-storey structure, known as the WisemaeeStWorks (Fig 1; Plate
71). Although heavily remodelled, the structure-gates the Victoria Mill
complex, and is shown on the first edition OrdnaBoevey map of 1851, and
was therefore incorporated within the recordingveyy but at a reduced
English Heritage Level I-type survey.

Plate 71: Wiseman Street Shed from the south

The structure appears to have originally been alfguhree bay structure with
a wide entrance on its western facade, which walregsed sandstone block,
as were the other external walls (Plate 71). Therwlay had an I-section
lintel, suggesting that it had been enlarged, butéd the principal access
from the courtyard of the Oak Mount Mill complexitiwn which the building
was placed. The doorway, which was stone blockbedexquently, was flanked
by vertical windows to each bay, with projectinghdstone sills. All were
brick blocked as part of a re-roofing of the stuetin the late twentieth
century (plate 71).

The building almost certainly served as a warehowgl a nearby gate in the
boundary wall of the complex, depicted on the OmdeaSurvey plan of 1851,
affording good access to the canal towpath. It exdended to the east, prior to
1892, with the demolition of the original returnliv@late 72). The scar of a
stone stair in the north wall of the extension {#[a3) demonstrated the new
structure was originally two-storey. By 1892 thek@éount Mill complex had
condensed to the east (Fig 2), almost certainlpviohg a fire in 1884 (OA
North 2010b), and the building now lay beyond itsuhdary wall. Its
extension is therefore likely to have coincidedhwét change of ownership,
with the expanded structure becoming an independentern, possibly
occupied in 1896 by Henry Eckersall, a textile-maehy maker and smith
(Barrett 1896, 230).

A bearing box immediately to the east of this desin@d wall demonstrated
that powered operations were being undertaken nvitie building (Plate 73),
suggesting that the wider site also had a powetpfacorresponding aperture
for the transverse line shaft was observed in ghposite wall, but the bearing
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box had been removed and the aperture blocked lwithk (Plate 72). Both

phases of the building comprise dressed and coussedistone external
elevations (Plate 71), with random rubble interi@P$ates 72 and 73). The
eastern part of the structure differs, being iralyndressed below window sill
height (Plates 72 and 73). Five apertures in thst wall were all blocked,

except the southern example, which was remodetiddrin a doorway. This

replaced an earlier doorway in the north wall, ahicas brick-blocked (Plate
73), but predated an inserted roller-shutter daathe south wall. The extant
upper few courses of brickwork throughout the hotddwere contemporary
with the four extant L-section steel trusses (PT&g

g 5 - i

Plate 73: North internal elevation, showing butinjpin wall, extant bearing box, and removed stair
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5. DISCUSSION

5.1

5.1.1

51.2

5.2
5.2.1

5.2.2

NTRODUCTION

The building investigation has added considerablythe existing body of
information gathered by earlier rapid surveys oé tbomplex, and has
provided a detailed record of the structures godheir remodelling for future
use as a college campus. Whilst the majority ofl@wte upon which this
report is based will remain-situ, many elements will be obscured.

The complex retains many elements, broadly deflmethree main phases of
expansion prior to the cessation of cotton spinrand weaving in the first
half of the twentieth century. A final phase docutsehe sites transformation
for later use.

PHASE 1: 1854 — 1888

The oldest extant fabric comprises a smalt parthe original four-storey
spinning block, and three of the external wallsefassociated attached three-
storey engine house. The extant fabric of the spghhlock demonstrates that
the architectural style of the extant later streesuvas almost identical to that
of the original build, with diminishing windows teach floors, projecting
string bands, and internally dressed plinths torthigble walls. Floor levels
were also consistent between the two spinning kloeken though it appears
that the Phase 1 structure was demolished duringadime approximate period
as the replacement structure was erected.

The survey of the original engine house ha®daseveral questions about its
layout. Whilst it was assumed previously that tlkeaet boiler house on the
opposite side of the passageway beneath the weahieg was the original
steam-raising plant, this represents a very unusitialy of such a structure.
Boiler houses were almost always attached to tlggnenhouse where site
layout permitted, and the position of the extantldoohouse, offset 12’
(3.65m) away from the engine house, and approxign&@ (9.1m) from the
chimney, appears unlikely. The engine was almogaicdy a single-cylinder,
vertical beam engine, with its sandstone bed odagpthe ground floor level
of the engine house. The flywheel was almost adstalaced at the southern
end of the engine, probably against the south-westell, which perhaps
explains its removal at a later date. The origis@ihning block must have
been wider than the present size of the courtyasdt would be very unlikely
that the primary motion shaft of the engine did pass directly into the
spinning block at ground-floor ceiling level. Theepent northern stone wall of
the weaving shed lies beyond the presumed placeofi¢his primary motion
shaft, strongly suggesting that it was rebuilt imare northerly position. It is
also unlikely that the south-eastern wall wouldéndeen devoid of apertures,
when so many were provided in the extant north-evastvall.
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5.2.3 The inclusion of a substantial partition watlground-floor level within the
engine house appears unlikely to have been forpamgose other than the
inclusion of a boiler. Although the Victoria Mill ngine house is not
exceptionally early on a regional scale, it is afiethe earlier examples in
Burnley. Early engine houses generally incorporatexl boiler within their
walls, minimising the loss of heat and pressurevbeh the boiler and the
engine, whilst detached boiler houses, completelyasate from the engine
house, were a later development. The small roomatetdeby the internal
partition would have easily housed a single waguoitelh which would almost
certainly have provided sufficient power for thegoral complex. It is likely
that if this were the case, the structure wouldehaad a small attached
chimney, for which there is no physical or docuraentevidence. The large
door jamb within the return at the southern coroérthe building might
suggest that the charging platform was located los $ide of the boiler,
closest to Trafalgar Street, to which the mill vaagented. This suggests the
possibility that the vertical joint of an apparemtrance and window loophole
at the southern end of the north-east wall reptegée infilling of a removed
chimney, but this is somewhat speculative.

53 PHASE 2: 1880-9%

5.3.1 The demolition of the original spinning block, atite construction of its
replacement on the southern side of the privy towethe 1880s, required
remodelling of the original structure. The intermall of the retained north-
east wall became the external face of the new imgiJdalthough the lower
floors were possibly internal to a new, probablygi- or two-storey
narrowed structure occupying the footprint of thigioal spinning block.

5.3.2 The new spinning block was of similar non-fireproodnstruction to the
earlier building, which is somewhat surprising giilat the earlier structure
was destroyed by fire. This is likely to reflechdincial considerations rather
than any great confidence of the avoidance of &urtbutbreaks of fire.
However, it appears that a slightly earlier stroetlocated on the canal side,
occupying the footprint of the majority of the rfetn part of the later
weaving shed was extant by the time of the constmucof the second
spinning block. This structure was of fireproofdirivaulted construction and
apparently of two-storey height, given the surviwal the north-western
elevation. The ground floor is likely to have can&l the primary processing
area for the baled cotton, which presumably arridedctly from a wharf on
the canal. By moving this highly combustible pracégsrther away from the
spinning block, the risk of fire would have beewlueed significantly. It is
unclear whether this structure incorporated thedatapering cylindrical
chimney, or whether this was added when the soutpart of the structure
was partitioned and converted to a boiler houskarge doorway in the north-
western wall was apparently not quite large enoagh, both jambs had to be
cut in order to allow the installation of two 8'.42m) diameter Lancashire
boilers, probably of 30’ (9.14m) length. An econeari placed to the south-
west is likely to have been of a contemporary da&ng positioned on the
most plausible route for the original flue to thensney.
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5.3.3

5.3.4

5.3.5

5.3.6

Further preparatory work, most probably carding esuwdng, was undertaken
on the ground floor of the new spinning block, wiltinostle frames driven by
longitudinal line shafts on the floors above. Powes supplied from the
engine by a drive shaft aligned along the outee fat the earlier spinning
block at first-floor level. This passed through the®jecting privy tower (OA
North 2011) before entering the spinning block, had a large bevel gear on
the external face of the end bay of the originahrsipg block.

It is unclear whether the engine house was expaatlddis time; the new
spinning block was certainly larger than the orirstructure, and the
preparation block to the north would also have megpower but, depending
on the size of the original engine, the increasgmhtjty and pressure of steam
provided by the new boilers may well have supplied increased demand.
The engine house was certainly expanded whilstg still functional, rather
than following its removal, as shown by the inatusiof several phases of
bearing box in its new south-western wall. Thisgagys that it is likely that
the enlargement predated the weaving sheds, whach mot only of different
fabric, but that the modifications to the power @ypfrom the engine house
related to the differing requirements of the newdog.

It is unlikely that the expansion of the engine $®included the installation of
a brand new engine, as this would have proved vesjly, not only in terms
of its purchase, but also the time lost to ingtgllit. In circumstances where
complexes had new engines installed, these wererggn erected in
completely new structures, and often supplemeritecekisting engine. Beam
engines were relatively simple machines and coelteally be repaired and
maintained in working order, only becoming redurtdas a function of
technological innovation. Thus, they could oftestjbe supplemented, rather
than replaced, leading to no loss of productioretimnd cheaper outlay. In
this instance it was probably that the originalreangine had an additional
high-pressure cylinder added, by the process ofN&ghting’. William
McNaught was a Scottish engineer, who patentedidsggn for a compound
steam engine in 1845. Four years later, he relddat&anchester, at the heart
of the textile industry, and began a business mabmprising the
retrospective fitting of high-pressure cylindersetasting steam engines, and
exhausting them into the original cylinder, whictasvretained as a low-
pressure cylinder (Giles and Goodall 1992). Notyadild this increase the
power of the cylinder, it also reduced its fuel ®omption, leading to a saving
in running costs. Adding this additional cylindeowmd not require a large
structural expansion, perhaps explaining why ohly southern part of the
western side of the engine house was widened,extanly by 8’ (2.44m).

The second major episode of construction withirs thihase comprised the
construction of a two-storey brick weaving shedthie south-east of the
original spinning block. The northern part of thieusture appears to replace
the majority of an earlier preparation block, exkieg it to the bank of the

canal (Fig 2; Plate 3). The exact date of conswuatemains unclear, but the
Ordnance Survey map of 1892, surveyed in 1888-8wshthe completed

structure, which was probably the first part ofeamlargement of the complex
that included the construction of a stair towet &89 Section 5.3.9below).
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5.3.7

5.3.8

5.3.9

The structure is of fireproof construction, witlmetal-framed north-light roof,
and fireproof vaulted ceilings to the ground flo@rhilst it had been assumed
previously that these were rendered brick archesloeatory works for the
refurbishment of the structure revealed them toobeelatively complex
concrete construction. Not only does this represenearly, and rare use of
concrete to replicate jack-arched style constructib also gives an early
insight into the development of an understandinghefstructural qualities of
concrete. The outer skins of hard concrete apegive the floor its strength,
whilst the loose aggregate matrix appears to aet damper, preventing the
concrete from shattering. The discovery of the matof this floor is of
especial importance.

The weaving shed was not constructed to simply éopewer looms
throughout both floors, and although it is ofteflereed to as a very rare
example of a two-storey weaving shed, this is sonavef a misnomer, as
power loom weaving was only undertaken on the uploer, and possibly
within the western 13 bays. The different roof stiwe to the north, allowing
far fewer columns to be used, appears original,thednclusion of windows
within the side, both suggest to a different precescurring in the eastern
eight bays, probably relating to finishing, rathlean warehousing, given the
large number of line shafts provided within thisrtpaf the structure. An
original loading doorway in the south-east wallvietn the two areas was
therefore more likely used for the transfer ofghed goods, rather than for the
intake of part-processed materials. The groundrfldso included windows,
providing a very poor quality of light for weavin@his suggests that other
processing was being undertaken here, possibly ptivary process of
scutching, which may have been moved from the eontipart of the ground
floor, the southern two bays of which were conwkrte a boiler house,
housing two 30’ Lancashire boilers, and an econemis

The final improvement within the complex was thenstouction of a six-
storey stair tower, at the southern end of thealgar Street frontage of the
spinning block. This relatively expensive undemakwould have reaped no
financial rewards, other than providing a greatsurance against loss by fire.
The tower was of relatively standard fireproof domstion, comprising
flagstone floors and iron beams. Its main benefis vts role in the installation
of an automated sprinkler system, the water forctvivas provided by an iron
sheet tank atop the tower. Its height also provittesl pressure, allowing
sprinklers to be installed throughout the compléke automated sprinkler
system was manufactured by Witter & Son of Boltaith ‘The ‘Witter
gaining a reputation for reliability and robustnessd was one of the earliest
such systems developed, following the introductdrsprinkler systems into
Britain during the early 1880s. Indeed, by 1888 tyear prior to the
installation of the system at Victoria Mill, only33 cotton mills in England
had working automated sprinkler systems (Wormaf23)9The main valve is
located within the original spinning block, immetgig to the north of the
tower. From the main valve, sometimes referredst@a aChristmas tree’, the
water supply entered the spinning block, beforendperansferred between
floors in vertical pipes placed adjacent to colunifise system, including the
glass bulb sprinklers themselves, survived almostpietely intact.
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54 PHASE 3: EARLY TWENTIETH CENTURY

5.4.1 The main improvement during the early twentiethtegnappears to be an
upgrading of the mill's power-transmission systeithis was seemingly
converted from vertical shafting to a more effi¢ierpe drive system. At first-
floor level, the driveshaft from the engine housethie spinning block was
replaced with cables forming the rope drive. Thiaswplaced below the
existing driveshaft, which could continue to operathilst the new system
was being installed. Further evidence for a ropeedsurvives at ground-floor
level in the dividing wall between the engine hoasel the weaving shed.
This may have coincided with the conversion of western six bays of the
ground floor to a skating rink, shown on the OrdreaSurvey edition of 1912
(Fig 3). The inserted brick wall includes the erghiing of a line shaft on its
eastern face, matching one within the blockinghef ériginal primary motion
shaft.

55 PHASE 4: MID-TWENTIETH CENTURY

5.5.1 This phase relates to the post-spinning and weavsegof the structure, and
comprises the partitioning of the spinning floogsth the insertion of offices,
and staircases. Very little earlier fabric was reatbat this time, allowing the
survival of many significant features, with the egtion of the engine and its
associated bed, which were removed from the enpmese to allow its
conversion into a three storey structure. It issgue that the boilers were
removed at this time, although Lancashire boileesenoften retained to heat
large complexes, long after the associated povet lad been removed.

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012



University Technical College, Victoria Mill, BurleArchaeological Building Investigation 66

BIBLIOGRAPHY

PRIMARY SOURCES

Cartographic Sources

Plans Showing Line of Water and Gas PjgE61
Walsh’sPlan of the Municipal Borough of Burnle$882
Ordnance Survey first edition 1:1056 (1892)

Ordnance Survey first edition 1:2500 (1893-4)
Ordnance Survey 1:2500 (1912 edition)

Ordnance Survey 1:2500 (1929 edition)

Ordnance Survey Soil Survey of England and Wal@83)1L
Newspapers

Huddersfield Chroniclg3 September 1881

Manchester Time$ November 1886

Liverpool Mercury 12 March 1888

Blackburn Standardl7 December 1892

Trade Directories

Barrett, P, 189&eneral and Commercial Directory of Burn)d3reston

Worrall, J, 1891Cotton Spinners’ and Manufacturers’ Directo®ldham

SECONDARY SOURCES
Bennett, W, 195The History of Burnley from 1858, Burnley

Burnley Borough Council, 2009Conservation Area Appraisal: Canalside
Conservation AregBurnley

Calladine, A, and Fricker, J, 198ast Cheshire Textile Milld.ondon
Catling, H, 1986The Spinning MuleLancashire

Countryside Commission, 1998ountryside Character Volume 2: North West
Cheltenham

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012



University Technical College, Victoria Mill, BurleArchaeological Building Investigation 67

English Heritage, 199 anagement of Archaeological Projecgnd edn, London

English Heritage, 2006Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to Good
Recording Practice

Giles, C, and Goodall, IH, 1992orkshire Textile Mills 1770 — 1930ondon
Miller, I, and Wild, C 2007A & G Murray and the Cotton Mills of Ancoatsancaster

OA North, 2008 George Leigh Street, Ancoats, Manchester: Archapcéd
Excavation unpubl rep

OA North, 2010a5andygate Mills, Weavers’ Triangle, Burnley: HeggaAppraisal
unpubl rep

OA North, 2010bLancashire Textile Mills: Rapid Assessment SurviexalFReport
unpubl rep

OA North, 2011 The Privy Tower, Victoria Mill: Archaeological Buding
Investigation unpubl rep

United Kingdom Institute for Conservation (UKIC),990 Guidelines for the
preparation of archives for long-term storagendon

Williams, M, with Farnie, DA, 199Z otton Mills in Greater ManchestePreston

For the use of Barnfield Construction Ltd © OA North: September 2012



University Technical College, Victoria Mill, BurleArchaeological Building Investigation 68

APPENDIX 1: WRITTEN SCHEME OF INVESTIGATION

Oxford
Archaeology
May 2012 North

UNIVERSITY TECHNICAL
COLLEGE,

VICTORIA MILL,
TRAFALGAR STREET,
BURNLEY

ARCHAEOLOGICAL WRITTEN SCHEME
OF INVESTIGATION

Planning Application 2012/0134 & 2012/0135

Proposals

The following Written Scheme of Investigation ferefd in response to a request from
Barnfield Construction Ltd for archaeological inWggtion in advance of the

proposed redevelopment of former industrial siteghe Weavers’ Triangle area of
Burnley.
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11

111

1.1.2

1.13

1.14

INTRODUCTION

PROJECT BACKGROUND

Burnley Borough Council has granted planning pesiois for the
development of a University Technical College omfer industrial sites in the
Canalside Conservation Area of Burnley (centredN@R 383452 432551).
The development proposals allow for the change s&f of Victoria Mill, a
Grade 1l listed building on Trafalgar Street, frasfass B2 to D1, and the
erection of a multi-function hall to provide a \@sis Learning Trust University
Technical College. The works will necessitate timgathetic refurbishment
of Victoria Mill, and the demolition of buildingshat occupy the site of the
Waterloo Foundry, immediately to the south-easVistoria Mill (Figs 1 and
2). A brick-built structure abutting the Sandygsél engine house, and the
derelict remains of a former machinery works on &ktian Street, will also be
demolished.

The historic importance of Victoria Mill is reflesd in its Grade Il listed
designation, and its inclusion in the Canalside@ovation Area. The mill was
built in 1855 for the Massey family as a throstigtan mill, but was expanded
during the late 1880s to include capacity for wagviThe earliest part of the
site forms an L-shaped plan, the longer range (ngnparallel to the street)
double depth with paired gables to west. This pathe mill contained carding
engines and roving frames on the ground floor, mates on the upper floors.
The return range contained an integral engine hauseked by a tall round-
headed window opening. A seven-stage tower, tstheh-east of the original
building, and two-storey weaving sheds to the @sste added in 1889. The
Waterloo Foundry was established in the seconddialie nineteenth century,
and was occupied by the firm of TE Pemberton, anlananufacturer and
repairer. Whilst most of the historic foundry buiigs have been demolished,
there is potential for buried remains of archaeiglalginterest to surviven-
situ.

In order to secure archaeological interests, ansatsfy the requirements of
listed building and conservation area consentsniByrBorough Council has
attached a condition to the planning consent thiatva for an appropriate
scheme of archaeological investigation to be cdrreeit in advance of
development works. Following the guidance providgdlLancashire County
Archaeology Service (LCAS) in their capacity ashaeological advisor to
Burnley Borough Council, the condition states:

‘No development shall take place until the applicaor their agent or
successors in title, has secured the implementaiioa programme of
archaeological work in accordance with a writtehesne of investigation
which has been submitted by the applicant and apeprdy the Planning
Authority.’

This document presents the required written schefnavestigation for the
approval of the Local Planning Authority. It hasheproduced by OA North at
the request of Barnfield Construction Ltd, andamsultation with LCAS.
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Figure 2 Recent aerial view of the study area
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1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

1,24

OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGY NORTH

OA North is the largest archaeological contmam north-west England, with
unsurpassed experience of working in the region. Q@Arth has the
professional expertise and resource to undertakembject to a high level of
quality and efficiency. OA North isn Institute for Archaeologists (IfA)
registered organisation, registration number 17, and all its members of
staff operate subject to the IfA Code of Conduct.

OA North has established itself as one otcthentry’s leading practitioners in
the field of industrial archaeology, and has getegran impressive portfolio
of projects that include those completdthe Derwentcote Steel Furnace in
County Durham (Cranstonet al 1997), the Carlton Alum Works in North
Yorkshire (Miller 2002), the Pilkington’'s Sheet G$&aWorks in St Helens
(Krupa and Heawood 2002), Thomas Telford’s Holyhédmhd in North
Wales (Quartermainet al 2003), and the Percival, Vickers Flint Glass Works
in Manchester (Miller 2007). A large proportiontbe industrial archaeology
projects carried out by OA North, however, have bdecused on the
development of textile-manufacturing sites. In 20ff instance, OA North
completed a four-year project of conservation-bassdarch, building survey
and excavation at the Grade Il Listed Murrays’ Bigpinning complex in the
Ancoats area of Manchester. This project culminatethe publication of a
monograph on the history, development, and fabfidVlanchester’'s oldest
surviving steam-powered cotton mill (Miller and \W/2007).

Building assessment and recording has alwawsed a substantial part of OA
North’s work, and industrial buildings have condid a major part of the
work carried out in this field. Recent projects dawucluded the survey and
recording of Pecket Well spinning and weaving méhr Hebden Bridge (OA
North 2007b), the early twentieth-century Gem MillChadderton (OA North
2007c), Lyons Lane Mill in Chorley (OA North 2010dhe Sandygate Mills
in the Weavers’ Triangle area of Burnley (OA No&010e), Victoria Mill,
also in the Weavers’ Triangle (OA North 2011a), dtenStreet Shed and
Reedyford Mill in Nelson (OA North 2011b), and \octa Mill in Sabden
(OA North 2011c). OA North is presently carryingtdbbe second stage of a
major English Heritage-funded project that is asisgsthe condition of all the
surviving textile-manufacturing sites in Lancashiaad carrying out detailed
research and survey of a selected sample of 5Gsita8.

All work on the project will be undertaken atcordance with relevant
professional standards, including:

. IfA’s Code of Conduct(1999); Code of Approved Practice for the
Regulation of Contractual Arrangements in Field Aaeology (1999);
Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Evaluagjor{1999);
Standard and Guidance for Archaeological WatchimigfB, (1999);

. English Heritage’sManagement of Archaeological Projects (MAP2)
1991.
. The European Association of Archaeologists Prirespbf Conduct for

Archaeologists Involved in Contract Archaeologigébrk (1998).
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2

2.1

2.2

2.3

AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

The required scheme of archaeological works cormaprisvo principal
elements of fieldwork: an archaeological buildinyestigation of Victoria
Mill, the brick-built structure adjacent to SandtgaMill engine house,
Trafalgar House/Waterloo Works, and the remainghef Wiseman Street
Works; and the intrusive investigation of thosetpaof the site that may
contain buried archaeological remains and thatlaldestroyed as part of the
development.

The main research aims of the investigation willkdgrovide an appropriate
record of the historic buildings prior to their wdbishment or demolition, and
to ensure the long-term preservation of the ardogeml information by the
production and deposition of a report and an ortlgm®ject archive. This
stage of the project will also aim to assess tlesgmce or absence of any
archaeological remains across the site, and spaityfithose of the former
Waterloo Foundry.

The required stages to achieve these ends ard@sdo

. Building Investigation: to provide a drawn, photographic and textual
record of all the buildings to English Heritage @89 standards, which
will provide a lasting record of the structurestlirir present state. In
addition, the investigation will ascertain if fueth archaeological
investigation will be necessary, prior to or durargy demolition work;

. Strip, Map and Record: the initial stage of the works will comprise the
mechanical removal of modern hard-standing, foldwey manual
excavation, to determine the presence or absenaeyoburied remains
of archaeological interest. The strip and recordalso intended to
establish the extent of any further work, if anyieh will be required
in advance of the groundworks associated with thepgsed
development. Where significant buried remains awend to survive,
and will be destroyed during the proposed develagméurther
excavation will be required. This will aim to proe a detailed record
of the remains of the foundry;

. Post-excavation Assessment and Reporting: a programme of post-
excavation work, leading to the production of dyfullustrated report
and project archive will be carried out on completof the fieldwork.
The report will include information about the bunlgs’ age, fabric,
form and function. This will be followed by a dission of the
sequence of development, process layout and ugetiowe, and their
relationship with other buildings in the vicinity, terms of architecture
and function. The report will also provide an assent of the
significance of any buried archaeological remainat tare found to
survive beneath the modern ground surface.
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3.

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.1.4

METHOD STATEMENT

BUILDING |NVESTIGATION

Historical Research: a sufficient level of research will be carried ¢aifplace
the results obtained from the building investigatio an appropriate historical
context. The research will be collated from OA M&stextensive archive of
previous archaeological investigations in the WeslvEriangle, supplemented
by an examination of available cartographic soureesl any relevant
documents relating to the buildings.

The various buildings within the study area meiitedent levels of survey

appropriate to their significance. The most basiword, commensurate with
an English Heritage Level 1 type survey, is corrgdean appropriate means
of recording Trafalgar House and the building torgar, and the remains of
the Wiseman Street Works. The archaeological retmrthe Level 1 survey

will principally be photographic, with images linke¢o a block plan of the

buildings.

The buildings within the Victoria Mill complexincluding a multi-storey
spinning block, engine house, two weaving sheds, @mmney, merit an
English Heritage Level 2/3 type survey. The brittucture adjacent to the
Sandygate Mill engine house similarly merits a Lefetype survey. In
addition to a detailed photographic record, thigleof survey will allow for
the production of measured survey drawings thatucapall archaeological
detail. A visual inspection of the buildings wilsa be undertaken utilising the
OA North building investigatiompro-forma sheets, and a description will be
maintained to English Heritage (2006) Level 2/5dtd. The records will be
essentially descriptive and provide a systematicoawct of the origin,
development and use of the building, which willlutge a description of the
plan, form, fabric, function, age and developmemjLence of the complex.

Photographic Archive: a photographic archive for both levels of survalf w
be produced utilising a digital camera with a rasoh of at least 12 mega
pixels, using RAW format files for image capturayved as 8 bit TIFFs for
archive purposes A full photographic index will pp@duced, and the archive
of images will comprise the following:

(1) the external appearance and setting of the bugdingcluding a
mixture of general shots and detailed views takemfperpendicular
and oblique angles;

(i) general shots of the surrounding landscape;
(i)  the general appearance of principal rooms eincllation areas;

(iv) any external or internal detail, structural architectural, which is
relevant to the design, development and use ofbtn&lings, and
which does not show adequately on general photbgrap

v) any internal detailed views of features of esglesrchitectural interest,
fixtures and fittings, or fabric detail relevantgbasing the buildings.
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3.1.4

3.1.5

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

In addition to the digital files, hard copies oktimages will be created on
paper of appropriate archival quality, and depdsiés part of the paper
archive.

Site Drawings: architects’ plans (supplied by the client) will Aenotated on
site to produce the drawings. These drawings Wwdhtbe used as the basis of
CAD drawings, which will be included within the &hreport as figures:

® floor plans for each building;

(i) a cross-section through the short axis of the spgnrblock, the
weaving sheds, and the engine house,;

(i)  an elevation of the spinning block;
(iv)  an elevation of the engine house.

Where architects drawings are not availabég for cross-sections and
elevations), the following survey techniques wél &pplied as appropriate:

Reflectorless Electronic Distance Measurer (REDM) survey: the proposed
elevations and cross-sections will be surveyed l®ama of a reflectorless
electronic distance measurer (REDM). The REDM ipat#e of measuring
distances to a point of detail by reflection frame tvall surface, and does not
need a prism to be placed. The instrument to beé wiebe a Leica TCR805.
This emits a viable laser beam, which can be viguplided around points of
detail. The digital survey data will be capturedhivi a portable computer
running TheoLT software, which allows the surveydirectly inserted into
AutoCAD software for the production of final draws

Detail captured by the instrument survey will irddusuch features as window
and door openings, evidence for power transmissioiljine of decorative
detail, evidence for machinery, an indication abugrd and ceiling level, and
changes in building material.

The drawings will usually be produced at a scaleld0. The existing
drawings will be scanned or digitised into an industandard CAD package
for the production of the final drawings.

3.1.10 Manual Survey Techniques. hand-measured survey techniques will be

utilised to record areas that are not accessibslen&tirument or photographic
survey. The drawings will be tied into the remaimédhe survey through the
use of a survey control established by the instnireervey.

3.1.11 CAD System: the drawings will be manipulated in AutoCAD softeaThe

advantage of a CAD system is that it allows foiceght manipulation and
editing of drawings. The adoption of a layeringteys has significant benefits
during the analysis stage as it allows for the ldisf information such as
feature types, fabric and phasing as necessaryeordquirements of the
analysis, without the necessity to produce furttrawings. Finished drawings
can be plotted at the required scale or sheet.sizes
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4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

OTHER MATTERS

Health and Safety: archaeological staff and visitors will respect Hleand
Safety provisions and site-specific safety regafai It is the policy of OA
North (‘the Employer’) to conform fully with the geirements of the Health
and Safety at Work Act (1974), and all site procedwwill be in accordance
with the guidance set out in the Health and Saléanhual compiled by the
Standing Conference of Archaeological Unit Manadé&@97). Attention will
also be paid to the requirements of more recenslé&gn, including the
provision and use of Work Equipment Regulati¢t892), the Management of
Health and Safety at Work Regulatiofi®92), and the Construction (Design
and Management) Regulations (1994).

In furtherance of the duty of care imposed by tlealth and Safety at Work
Act (1974), the Employer shall make available ts Bmployees whatever
reasonable facilities are required by particulacwnstanceseg appropriate
protective clothing, safety equipment, rest brefaksspecialised tasks, etc. A
written risk assessment will be undertaken in adeganof project
commencement, and copies will be made availabieguest.

Insurance: evidence of Public Liability Insurance to the mmim value of
£5m, and Professional Indemnity Insurance to theimum of £2m, will be
provided prior to the commencement of the archapodb works.

Project Monitoring: the aims of monitoring are to ensure that the
archaeological works are undertaken within the tBmset by the Written
Scheme of Investigation, and to the satisfactiothefcuratorial archaeologist
at the Lancashire County Archaeology Service (LCA3he -curatorial
archaeologist will be given at least five days’ioetof when work is due to
commence, and will be free to visit the site byoprarrangement with the
project director. It is anticipated that there wile at least one formal
monitoring meeting during the course of the arclagoal works, which
should also be attended by the Client or his reprasive.

Contingencies: if there are more complex or generally deeper sigpdhan
can be anticipated from the evidence availablerethmay need to be a
corresponding increase in costs, which will be sabjo agreement with the
Client and the archaeological curator. Similarlyere will be recourse to a
contingency if there is any requirement to fullycaxate any human remains
that may be present. These contingency costs amcdordance with the
Institute for Archaeologists’ guidance.

Confidentiality: the report is designed as a document for the spacske of
the Client, for the particular purpose as definedthe project design, and
should be treated as such; it is not suitable fdslipation as an academic
report, or otherwise, without amendment or revisiémy requirement to
revise or reorder the material for submission @spntation to third parties
beyond the project design, or for any other explicirpose can be fulfilled,
but will require separate discussion and funding.
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5

5.1.1

5.1.2

6.1

6.2

WORK TIMETABLE

Building I nvestigation: approximately one week in the field will be reqdire
to complete the Level 1 and Level 2/3 type buildimgestigations.

Report/Archive: the report and archive will be produced within gigeks of
completion of the fieldwork. OA North can executmjpcts at very short
notice once a formal written agreement has beegived from the client.

STAFFING

The project will be under the overall chargdasi Miller BA FSA (OA North
Senior Project Manager) to whom all correspondeshceild be addressed. lan
has considerable experience and particular reseatetests in Lancashire’s
textile industries. lan managed the archaeologiedtiwork, analysis and
ultimate publication at Murrays’ Mills (Miller andVild 2007), and has
managed numerous excavations of former textilesntiiroughout Greater
Manchester. He is presently managing the Lancadhxdile Mills Survey, a
strategic research project funded by English Hgeita

The archaeological investigation is likely to beedied byChris Wild BSc
(OA North Project Officer). Chris is an highly exmaced field archaeologist,
who has a particular interest in Industrial ArcHagy, and has carried out
numerous surveys and excavations of former tertdeufacturing sites.
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ILLUSTRATIONS

LiST oF FIGURES

Figure 1. Site location

Figure 2: Plan of Victoria Mill, superimposed onfixdnance Survey map of
1892

Figure 3: Plan of Victoria Mill, superimposed onfixdnance Survey map of
1912

Figure 4: Ground-floor plan of Victoria Mill

Figure 5: First-floor plan of Victoria Mill

Figure 6: Second-floor plan of Victoria Mill

Figure 7: Third-floor plan of Victoria Mill
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Figure 1: Site location
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Figure 2: Components of Victoria Mill, superimposed on the Ordnance Survey map of 1894



S

| | St

udy area o om o
. {
1:500 @ A4

north

Figure 3: Components of Victoria Mill, superimposed on the Ordnance Survey map of 1912
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